## Public Document Pack

# **Dorset County Council**



# **County Council**

Minutes of the meeting held at County Hall, Colliton Park, Dorchester, DT1 1XJ on Thursday, 19 July 2018.

### Present:

Hilary Cox (Chairman)
David Shortell (Vice-Chairman)

Jon Andrews, Shane Bartlett, Pauline Batstone, Derek Beer, Richard Biggs, Kevin Brookes, Cherry Brooks, Ray Bryan, Steve Butler, Graham Carr-Jones, Andy Canning, Andrew Cattaway, Toni Coombs, Deborah Croney, Janet Dover, Jean Dunseith, Beryl Ezzard, Tony Ferrari, Spencer Flower, Katharine Garcia, David Harris, Jill Haynes, Nick Ireland, Susan Jefferies, David Jones, Rebecca Knox, Steven Lugg, Jon Orrell, Andrew Parry, Mary Penfold, Byron Quayle, Clare Sutton, William Trite, Daryl Turner, David Walsh, Peter Wharf and Kate Wheller.

Officers Attending: Richard Bates (Chief Financial Officer), Mike Harries (Corporate Director for Environment and Economy), Jonathan Mair (Service Director - Organisational Development (Monitoring Officer)), Claire Shiels (Assistant Director for Commissioning and Partnerships), Lee Gallagher (Democratic Services Manager), Helen Whitby (Senior Democratic Services Officer) and Fiona E King (Communications Officer).

(Note: These minutes have been prepared by officers as a record of the meeting and of any decisions reached. They are to be considered and confirmed at the next meeting of the County Council to be held on **Thursday**, **8 November 2018**.)

### **Apologies for Absence**

Apologies for absence were received from Cllrs Keith Day, Lesley Dedman, Peter Hall, Colin Jamieson, Steven Lugg, Margaret Phipps, Bill Pipe, Mark Roberts, and Debbie Ward (Chief Executive).

### **Appointment of Vice-Chairman**

The Chairman invited nominations for Vice-Chairman of the County Council.

Cllr David Shortell was proposed by Cllr Andrew Parry, which was seconded by Cllr Pauline Batstone.

Cllr Janet Dover was proposed by Cllr Nick Ireland, which was seconded by Cllr Susan Jefferies.

On being put to the vote Cllr David Shortell was duly appointed.

### Resolved

That Cllr David Shortell be appointed as Vice-Chairman of the County Council for the remainder of 2018/19.

### **Code of Conduct**

There were no declarations by members of disclosable pecuniary interests under the Code of Conduct.

### **Minutes**

The minutes of the meeting held on 26 April 2018 were confirmed and signed.

### **Public Participation**

### 47 <u>Public Speaking</u>

There was one public question received at the meeting from Mr Rob Pearce, Equality Group Dorset, in accordance with Standing Order 21(1) in relation to the Equality Trust manifesto. The question and answer are attached as an annexure to these minutes.

There was one public statement received at the meeting from Dr Richard Sloan, Chair of West Dorset Branch of the Motor Neurone Disease Association, in accordance with Standing Order 21(2) in relation to the Motor Neurone Disease Charter. The statement is attached as an annexure to these minutes.

### **Petitions**

There were no petitions received at the meeting in accordance with the County Council's Petition Scheme.

### **Chairman's Announcements**

- The Chairman reported that she had attended a range of invents including:
  - A Syrian Refugee Event;
  - Royal visits (HRH Prince Charles to reopen the Bridport Literary and Scientific Institute building, the Princess Royal to the Tank Museum at Bovington, and the Duke of Gloucestershire at an exhibition at the Nothe Fort in Weymouth);
  - Long service award celebrations at Kingston Maurward;
  - The Local Government Association conference; and,
  - Citizenship ceremonies

It was also announced that a final long service award and farewell event for the County Council would be held on 29 March 2019.

### **Leader's Announcements**

The Leader of the Council reported on the following issues facing the Council, and invited questions from all members:

### Thank You

The Leader thanked Cllr Deborah Croney for her work and commitment to the role of Cabinet Member for Economy, Education, Learning and Skills. She had recently stood down and Cllr Andrew Parry was welcomed as her successor.

### Future delivery of services.

Attention was drawn to the increased use of social media to highlight the Council's increasing role with partners in local government reform and the future delivery of services for residents based community involvement.

### <u>Awards</u>

The Council had received a number of awards which provided national recognition and prominence. These included the Dorset Armed Forces Health and Wellbeing Project, Durlston Country Park's Parks for People Programme and the four Green Flag awards for Dorset country parks.

### Programmes

A number of programmes were highlighted including the Children in Care Council information pack created by young people, the support for out of county placements and the reduction of travel times agreed by Cabinet, and the recent LGBT lottery event which was attended by staff from the Fostering Team.

### LGA Conference

There had been a real change in emphasis for local government priorities with. Ministers reflecting on the social care agenda, both for children and adults. The Minister for Local Government was clearly aware of Dorset and this reflected well on the work by officers and partners.

### Local Government Reorganisation in Dorset, Bournemouth and Poole

The Council considered a report by the Chief Executive on the progress of Local Government Reorganisation (LGR) in Dorset, Bournemouth and Poole. The Monitoring Officer explained that the Structural Change Order was in place to enable the transition of the County Council and the other 8 Councils in Dorset to form two new councils. The report provided details of the three phases of the LGR programme: The creation of the 2 new councils through the order; the delivery of safe and legal services from 1 April 2019; and the designing of the new councils. The first meetings of the Shadow Dorset Council had been held on 7 June 2018 (when Cllr Cox had been elected Chairman of the Shadow Council) and the Shadow Executive on 18 June 2018 (when Cllr Knox had been elected as Shadow Executive Leader).

Two Judicial Reviews were under way and at different stages: one by Christchurch Borough Council which was to be heard in the High Court on 30 July 2018 with an anticipated outcome the same day; and the second from an individual (a decision was awaited on whether this challenge would be given permission to proceed). The County Council had asked for the second challenge to be expedited if permission to proceed was granted.

Cllr David Jones stated that Christchurch Borough Council had been made aware that the Judge was minded to reserve judgement on a decision and that this might not be made until the beginning of August 2018. The Monitoring Officer confirmed that the Council had not had any contact with the Judge and that it was not unusual for judgements to be reserved.

Cllr Richard Biggs, whilst welcoming the increased pace of LGR, asked whether the Group established to look at Brexit had met, given the need to establish Brexit's impact on organisations, goods and services. The Leader explained that the County Council had little influence on Brexit, but agreed that it needed to be aware of the position going forward. A group of members and officers were meeting regularly and this work covered both Dorset and the region.

Cllr David Jones, in the light of the Judicial Review, abstained from supporting the approach being taken.

### **Noted**

### **Local Government Boundary Commission for England - Dorset Council Review**

The Council considered a report by the Chief Executive on the Local Government Boundary Commission for England's (LGBCE) consultation on the future electoral arrangements for the new Dorset Council to be implemented from the elections on 2 May 2019. The Monitoring Officer introduced the report and summarised the work of the Boundary Review Task and Finish Group, chaired by Cllr Spencer Flower, which had consulted members of all Dorset area councils on the future electoral arrangements which had largely been reflected in the consultation document by the LGBCE.

A number of concerns were raised in opposition to the recommendations within the LGBCE consultation in relation to the ward boundaries suggested for the Chickerell, Weymouth and Portland area as follows:

 A preference was expressed for single member wards. Alternative proposals had been included in the consultation feedback in the submission in May 2018.

- A democratic deficit, and the ability for local members to represent a logistically smaller area as the three-member divisions would have close to 11k electors.
- There was disregard for the most important of the LGBCE review criteria: community interests and identity. This was particularly evident in boundaries affecting Upwey, Littlemoor, Broadmayne, Corfe Road, Manor Road, Chickerell, area of Lanehouse, Wyke, Portland Tophill, Portland Underhill, Bincombe.
- Polling districts should be amended where needed to find the right community fit.
- Cllr Harris made a request to amend the first recommendation in the Chief Executive's report for the Chickerell, Weymouth and Portland area to be reviewed again. This amendment was seconded by Cllr Kate Wheller.
- Multi-member wards would discriminate against independent candidates and smaller political groups at elections.
- The effectiveness of individual members in multi-member wards was influenced by fellow ward councillors who were less active.
- Local councillors are the people who know their communities.
- Local resident's awareness of which electoral ward they were in.
- Assumptions in the consultation document were incorrect.
- There were housing developments that would adversely impact the mapping in some areas, particularly in the Linden Lea area.
- The role of the councillor would be increased due to the reduction in tiers of local government and large numbers of electors in comparison to the size of former district/borough wards.
- There would be more pressure on Town and Parish Councils to deal with representations made by the public.
- There would be more call on members to receive higher allowances.
- Many of the concerns raised were shared at the consultation roadshow of the Boundary Review Task and Finish Group in April 2018.

Counter views in support of the recommendations were expressed by other members, particularly in relation to:

- Time had been taken carefully to look at the criteria of the LGBCE and adhering to the criteria, including community identity.
- Multi-member wards across the county worked well and strengthen local democracy.
- Small amendments had been made to the warding pattern as a result of the consultation roadshows undertaken by the Task and Finish Group.
- The warding in Weymouth and Portland was in line with the approach taken across the Dorset area as a whole.
- Forecasting of electorate and population had been taken into account in arriving at the proposals.
- The report was asking for support of the process undertaken, and the fall-back position for the boundary review was not wanted.
- There was a significant pressure to complete the review given the available time before formation of the new councils.
- Any view to express a dislike needed to be supported by evidence and rationale to prove that any change was substantiated.
- The electoral arrangements did not prevent candidates being put forward for election.
- Matters of individual preference could be responded to through the LGBCE portal.

Cllr Spencer Flower, as the Chairman of the Boundary Review Task and Finish Group, provided an overview of the aims of Group and the comprehensive review work undertaken to arrive at a submission for consideration by the Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government and LGBCE. He paid tribute to the work undertaken by three officers, Richard Jones of East Dorset District Council, Lee Gallagher - Democratic Services Manager and Peter Jackson - Principal Research Officer.

Cllr Flower explained that the work of the Group required listening and reasoning based on the clear criteria set within boundary review rules and guidance, and as a result the recommendations in the consultation reflected 95% of the review work undertaken. In his opinion it was not appropriate to isolate one area and to not apply the same principles as this would not be favoured by LGBCE. There had been a week of roadshows undertaken to engage with members of all councils in the Dorset area which took account of the divergence of opinion, but arrived at consistent and pragmatic ward mapping based on clean data, and the submission included all of the views and proposals which were not in agreement with the submission so that LGBCE could take account of them. All individual views were encouraged to be submitted through the LGBCE consultation portal.

Following the debate, Cllr Harris clarified the wording of his amendment as:

'To support the recommendations of the Local Government Boundary Commission for the electoral arrangements for Dorset Council from 2 May 2019, subject to the inclusion of Appendix 2 in the response, with the exception of proposals for Weymouth, Portland and Chickerell for which we would like a further review.'

The amendment was seconded by Cllr Kate Wheller. On being put to the vote the amendment was lost.

The substantive recommendation within the report was subsequently proposed by Cllr Spencer Flower, and was seconded by Cllr Andy Canning. On being put to the vote it was

### Resolved

- 1. That the recommendations of the Local Government Boundary Commission for the electoral arrangements for Dorset Council from 2 May 2019, subject to the inclusion of Appendix 2 in the response, be supported.
- 2. That the minute above be shared with the Boundary Commission as part of the County Council's feedback.
- 3. That individual representations to the consultations can be made through the consultation portal at consultation.lgbce.org.uk, by emailing reviews@lgbce.org.uk or by writing to the commission.

### **Questions from County Councillors**

There were no questions received at the meeting in accordance with Standing Order 20.

### Meeting held on 2 May 2018

53 **Resolved** 

That the report of the meeting held on 2 May 2018 be adopted.

### Meeting held on 23 May 2018

54 Resolved

That the report of the meeting held on 23 May 2018 be adopted.

### Meeting held on 27 June 2018

### 55 Medium Term Financial Plan

In relation to minute 73, Cllr Richard Biggs asked how the closure of Maumbury House and children now being placed out of county would reduce pressures on budgets. The Cabinet Member for Safeguarding explained that residents of Maumbury House were now in foster care. Children with significant needs continued to be placed out of county but work to increase the number of foster carers was underway so that these children could be looked after within Dorset in future.

### Schools in Weymouth

In relation to minute 79 Cllr Jon Orrell referred to the reduction of standards within two secondary schools in Weymouth and asked whether any lessons could be learned from this with a view to supporting schools in vulnerable areas in future to ensure this did not recur. The Cabinet Member for Economy, Education, Learning and Skills explained that it was important for members to have a clear understanding of the reasons for the downgrading by Ofsted of Budmouth College and All Saints Church of England School. These related to weak leadership, governor infighting, poor discipline and absenteeism. In the cast of Budmouth College, the use of extra funding it had received in pupil premium payments not been monitored and its impact limited. The new Principal had a good understanding of the situation and, given sufficient time, a return to the previous standard would be realised.

Cllr Kevin Brookes asked whether there were any improving schools within the Weymouth and Portland area. In response Holy Trinity Primary School was highlighted as a school with over 650 pupils, of whom 100 received pupil premium and 150 had special educational needs. This school had achieved a "Good" rating from a recent Ofsted inspection and was working towards achieving "Outstanding". .

Cllr David Harris asked how an Interim Executive Board member, who attended few meetings and lived out of the area, could improve education standards. The Cabinet Member for Economy, Education, Learning and Skills stated that it was inappropriate to comment, but he would work with officers to ensure that action was taken to deliver the improvement referred to.

### Resolved

That the report of the meeting held on 27 June 2018 be adopted.

# People and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee - Meeting held on 4 July 2018

### 56 Outcomes Monitoring Report

In relation to minute 32, Cllr Clare Sutton asked whether there had been any outcomes from the suggested help the school improvement service might provide for schools in the Weymouth and Portland area. Members noted that an update report would be provided for the Committee's next meeting.

### Homelessness in Dorset: Review of Evidence

In relation to minute 35, Cllr Clare Sutton drew attention to an inaccuracy within the minute: the 18 rough sleepers referred to were in Weymouth and this illustrated the disparity between Weymouth and the rest of the Country.

The Committee had recommended the continuation of the Emergency Local Assistance Funding, which had subsequently turned out to be a matter for the new Shadow Dorset Council to consider, so Cllr Sutton asked whether the Cabinet Member for Health and Care would support this within the Shadow Dorset Council. Cllr Jill Haynes, as the Cabinet Member, stated that it would be for the new Council to decide its priorities. Cllr Rebecca Knox, as the Leader of the Council, added that governance arrangements for the new Authority were still being developed, but any decisions or policy changes by the County Council which affected the future could

also need to be considered by the Shadow Executive and the Shadow Dorset Council. The Monitoring Officer added that during the transition to the new Authority there was a different route for decisions to be taken and a Budget Task and Finish Group had been established to make recommendations to the Shadow Executive and the Shadow Dorset Council for the budget in 2019/20.

Cllr Sutton then asked whether Scrutiny Committees were effective. Cllr David Walsh, as the Chairman of the Committee, referred to the recent Mental Health Inquiry Day which he felt was a good example of scrutiny working well and which had resulted in good outcomes.

### **Resolved**

That the report of the meeting held on 4 July 2018 be adopted.

### Safeguarding Overview and Scrutiny Committee - Meeting held on 5 July 2018

Causes and Forces of Road Traffic Collisions - Road Safety Plan
In relation to minute 36, concern was raised in relation to the recent highways performance report which showed that the objective to reduce people killed or seriously injured, and specifically in relation to cyclists between 2004-2018. Cllr Daryl Turner, as the Cabinet Member for Natural and Built Environment, explained that the number of people killed had reduced, but the number of seriously injured had not and that this was a key area of attention for the Dorset Road Safety Partnership, and the Economic Growth Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 26 July 2018.

### Resolved

That the report of the meeting held on 5 July 2018 be adopted.

### **Dorset Health Scrutiny Committee - Meeting held on 15 June 2018**

Joint Health Scrutiny Committee re Clinical Services Review and Mental Health Acute Care Pathway Review - Update

In relation to minute 20, members were informed that the Clinical Services Review Task and Finish Group meeting was scheduled to meet on 1 August 2018, but this had subsequently changed to 22 August 2018. The meeting would include a number of interested members of the public.

### Resolved

That the report of the meeting held on 15 June 2018 be adopted.

### **Appointments to Committees**

59 There were no changes to committee appointments announced at the meeting.

### **Noted**

### **Exempt Business**

### 60 Resolved

That in accordance with Section 100 A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 to exclude the public from the meeting in relation to the business specified in minute 60 as it was likely that if members of the public were present, there would be disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in paragraph 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act and the public interest in withholding the information outweighed the public interest in disclosing the information to the public.

### **CIIr Steven Lugg - Absence from Meetings**

The Council considered a report by the Chief Executive.

### Resolved

That under section 85 of the Local Government Act 1972 the absence of Cllr Steven Lugg from Council meetings until 31 March 2019 due to reasons of ill health be

approved.

### Reason for Decision

In order for Cllr Lugg to remain a member of the County Council after the period of six consecutive months from the date of his last attendance at a meeting his absence must be approved in compliance with the Local Government Act 1972.

(Note: It was subsequently reported that Cllr Steven Lugg passed away on 20 July 2018.)

Meeting Duration: 10.00 am - 12.50 pm

## **Public Question for the County Council Meeting on 19 July 2018**

### Question from Rob Pearce, Equality Group Dorset

- a) does this council support the aims and objectives of the Equality Trust manifesto attached?
- b) which of the Fairness Fifteen aims and objectives of the Equality Trust does

the current DCC already support and implement?

c) will this council support the implementation of the Equality Trust's Fairness Fifteen when the new authority comes into being on April 1st 2019?

The Equality Trust's Fairness Fifteen manifesto is set out below.

I would be glad to learn of further procedures with which I will need to comply in order to pose the question in person. I hope to be accompanied by another member of the Dorset Equality Group who is eligible as a resident living within the new authority.

# **The Equality Trust Manifesto**

### THE FAIRNESS FIFTEEN

**Tackling Inequality & Poverty Where We Live** 

The UK is one of the most unequal countries in the developed world.

But inequality is not inevitable – you can change this with the FAIRNESS FIFTEEN and

use the FAIRNESS FIFTEEN to tackle inequality and poverty across this authority;

### **FAIR PAY**

- 1 Pay all directly contracted staff the real Living Wage (as set by the Living Wage Foundation)
- 2 Ensure all council contractors are required to pay staff the real Living Wage
- 3 Publish a plan to reduce the pay ratio between the CEO and the lowest-paid directly employed council worker

4 Adopt a policy to consider income inequality or pay inequality as a social value clause when awarding council contracts

### **FAIR POLICIES**

- 5 Evaluate the likely impact of council policies on socioeconomic inequality\*
- 6 Ensure 100% of the Local Welfare Assistance Fund is spent
- 7 Publish and pursue active strategies to tackle local food, fuel and funeral poverty
- 8 Enact 20mph speed limits in residential areas\*\*
- 9 Set up a redistributive giving scheme like Islington Giving <a href="http://www.islingtongiving.org.uk/website\_/">http://www.islingtongiving.org.uk/website\_/</a>
- 10 Make tackling inequality a priority in the council's budget-setting process and appoint a senior officer and/or cabinet member to take responsibility for inequality reduction

### FAIR LEADERSHIP

- 11 Act as an ambassador for the real Living Wage and promote it to local employers
- 12 Use council pension funds for shareholder activism to reduce high pay and tackle low pay in the companies in which it invests
- 13 Ban payday loan and rent-to-own companies from council advertising spaces
- 14 Enable council staff to use credit unions via the payroll function

# 15 Support credit unions through direct funding and other mechanisms

- \* As per the Socio-Economic Duty, section 1 of the Equality Act 2010. This was, regrettably, not brought into force by central government but local councils can take action on this. The Equality Trust and Just Fair are campaigning to encourage the Government to bring the duty into force: <a href="https://lforequality.com/">https://lforequality.com/</a>
- \*\* Road traffic casualty rates show a steep social gradient with more disadvantaged areas showing higher rates compared to more privileged areas please see: <a href="http://www.20splentyforus.org.uk/">http://www.20splentyforus.org.uk/</a> as well as: <a href="http://www.whatonechange.co.uk/adopt-a-20mph-speed-limit-in">http://www.whatonechange.co.uk/adopt-a-20mph-speed-limit-in</a> residential-areas-danny-dorling/ and <a href="http://www.20splentyforus.org.uk/BriefingSheets/20m">http://www.20splentyforus.org.uk/BriefingSheets/20m</a> ph is a Multi Agency Win.pdf



# Public Statement for the County Council Meeting on 19 July 2018

Statement from Dr Richard Sloan,
Chair of West Dorset Branch of the Motor Neurone Disease Association

### **MND Charter Adoption**

Motor neurone disease is a fatal, rapidly progressive disease affecting the brain and spinal cord.

It kills 30% of people within 12 months of diagnosis and 50% within 2 years.

There is no cure.

We are asking the County Council to adopt the MND Charter as a statement of intent to provide prompt support to sufferers and their families.

We hope that this will lead to an ongoing partnership with the Council to ensure together that the right support is provided in the right place at the right time.

Note: The MND Charter can be viewed by following the link below:-

https://www.mndassociation.org/get-involved/campaigning-influencing/take-action/champion-the-mnd-charter/

